IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RITA KEES LAMBERT, Individually, and as Personal Representative of all Wrongful Death Beneficiaries and Heirs at Law of the Decedent, BRIAN MICHAEL KEES

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2011-CA-00166

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA and AL ELLIS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE RANKIN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Daniel W. Kitchens Miss. Bar No. Matthew W. Kitchens Miss. Bar No. 100704 Kitchens Law Firm, P.A. P.O. Box 799 Crystal Springs, Miss. 39059 Telephone: 601-892-3067 Facsimile: 601-892-3057

Counsel for Appellants

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the Trial Court erred in finding that Al Ellis is not entitled to liability coverage under the Homeowner's Insurance Policy issued to him by Safeco Insurance Company of America for the Judgment entered against him as a result of the death of Brian Michael Kees.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below

Rita Kees Lambert, individually, and as personal representative of all heirs and wrongful death beneficiaries (collectively referred to as "Lambert"), filed this wrongful death lawsuit on August 15, 2005, in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, naming as Defendants Al Ellis ("Ellis") and John Does 1 through 10 (R.E. at 206).

On or about May 22, 2008, following the dismissal of its federal court declaratory judgment action on jurisdictional grounds, the Circuit Court of Rankin County entered an Agreed Order permitting Safeco Insurance Company of America ("Safeco"), Ellis's homeowner's insurance carrier, to intervene in this wrongful death action. On June 4, 2008, Safeco filed a complaint for declaratory judgment on the issue of insurance coverage. The complaint was answered by Lambert, and an itemization of stipulated facts was subsequently filed by the parties (R.E. at 88).

Safeco then filed a motion for summary judgment, alleging that Ellis's homeowner's insurance policy has no application in this case. (R.E. at 154.) The trial court denied Safeco's motion, finding genuine issues of material fact on the issue of coverage. (R.E. at 230.) Safeco filed an interlocutory appeal, which was denied by the Mississippi Supreme Court. (R.E. at 231.) Safeco then filed a Motion for Rehearing, which also was denied. (R.E. at 232.)

Lambert moved for and was granted partial summary judgment on the issue of Ellis's liability. (R.E. at 233-256 (Lambert's Motion and Memorandum in Support); R.E. at 257

(Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment.)) Lambert also moved for and was granted summary judgment on the issue of damages, which were assessed against Ellis in the amount of \$75,000. (R.E. at 258.) The time to appeal these rulings expired without Ellis or Safeco taking an appeal. Therefore, liability and damages have been determined in favor of Lambert and those issues are not before this Court.

Safeco and Lambert agreed for the trial court to sit as the trier of fact and decide, on the pleadings, without further hearing or trial, the remaining issue of whether Ellis's homeowner's insurance policy provides coverage to him for the damages assessed against him. On February 4, 2011, Lambert filed her Trial Brief (R.E. at 13), and on December 9, 2010, Safeco filed its Trial Brief (R.E. at 421).

On December 30, 2010, the trial court entered its Final Judgment finding no coverage and dismissing this action (R.E. at 8). Lambert timely filed her Notice of Appeal on January 28, 2011.

II. Statement of Relevant Facts

On August 13, 2005, Brian Michael Kees ("Brian") was a guest of Ellis at his home

Lambert served her trial brief on the trial judge and counsel opposite November 10, 2010. Pursuant to Rule 2.05 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, the trial brief was not initially filed with the Circuit Clerk. Instead, with permission of counsel opposite, the brief was filed on February 4, 2011, after entry of the trial court's Final Judgment, so it would be a part of the record on appeal.

A copy of Safeco's Trial Brief, without accompanying exhibits, is included in Appellant's Record Excerpts. The exhibits are not included because the same exhibits are also attached as exhibits to Appellant's Trial Brief. Also, a full copy, with exhibits, of Safeco's Trial Brief was included by Appellee in the Designation of the Record.

in Brandon, Rankin County, Mississippi. Ellis was hosting a swimming pool party and had invited Brian and his father, Michael Kees ("Michael"), who was a billiards teammate of Ellis. During the pool party, sometime between 9:00 and 10:00 p.m., Michael went into Ellis's home and, according to Ellis, stole money. Michael exited the house and hurried to his car. Concluding that Michael had stolen money from him, Ellis retrieved his pistol and followed. Outside, Michael and Brian were pulling out of Ellis's driveway in Michael's car. In an attempt to disable and stop the car, Ellis fired his pistol into the radiator and toward the car's tires. Ellis did not know Brian was in the vehicle. One of the bullets ricocheted off the pavement and hit Brian. Brian later died from the gunshot wound. (R.E. at 88, Itemization of Stipulated Facts.)

Ellis was arrested and charged with Brian's murder. The offense was properly reduced to manslaughter by culpable *negligence*, an offense that does not require criminal intent. (R.E. 322, 327.) Ellis pleaded guilty and was sentenced to time served, house arrest and probation. (R.E. 325.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The complaint alleges only negligence. It does not allege any intentional conduct by Ellis, nor does it seek recovery against Ellis for any intentional tort. The trial court entered judgment against Ellis in the amount of \$75,000 for his negligence in causing Brian's death. The issue in this appeal is whether Ellis's homeowner's insurance policy provides coverage to him for the damages assessed.

The trial judge erroneously determined that the policy provides no coverage because (1) Ellis committed an illegal act; (2) Ellis intended to discharge a firearm in the direction of the vehicle, thus his actions were not accidental and not an "occurrence" as required under the policy; and, (3) Ellis's actions were intentional, thus coverage is barred by the policy's intentional act exclusion.

The trial judge erred because, though Ellis intended to discharge his firearm, the uncontradicted evidence establishes that he did not intend the consequences of his act: the tragic and untimely death of Brian Michael Kees. Controlling precedent from the Mississippi Supreme Court establishes that, *inter alia*, (1) uncontradicted evidence must be accepted as true and (2) an act is intentional if the actor desires to cause the consequences of his act, or believes that the consequences are substantially certain to result from it.

In Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company, et al. vs. George D. Allard, et al., 611 So.2d 966 (Miss. 1992), Allard, intending to shoot the ground, accidentally shot his brother-in-law in the foot. His insurance carrier denied coverage, contending there was

no coverage because Allard intended to discharge the weapon, even though he did not intend to cause harm. Because the jury had found the firing of the gun intentional but had also found that Allard had not intended the resulting consequences (shooting his brother-in-law), the Court affirmed the verdict and the insurance company's obligation to pay.

Here, Ellis provided uncontradicted testimony that, *inter alia*, he did not intend to injure Brian or anyone else; he did not believe his actions would result in any injury to Brian (who he did not even know was in the vehicle) or anyone else; Brian's death was a tragic accident; by shooting his firearm he was simply trying to stop Michael Kees's vehicle to retrieve money he believed was stolen from him; and, he reasonably believed his actions were justified and lawful because he was the victim of theft. This testimony was uncontradicted and under oath, and was the only evidence before the trial court on the central issue of Ellis's intent.

The trial judge denied Safeco's motion for summary judgment, finding genuine issues of material fact. In his Final Judgment, the trial judge acknowledged that "there is no proof that Mr. Ellis intended to harm or kill [Brian] . . ." (R.E. at 11.) However, the trial judge then curiously ruled in favor of Safeco, because he found that Ellis intended to discharge his firearm. Such conclusion is in direct conflict with established precedent of the Supreme Court, and the uncontradicted facts of this case. Because Ellis did not intend the consequences of his act, because he reasonably believed his actions were lawful and justified, and because Brian's death was an unforeseeable accident, the trial judge erred in finding that the policy provides no coverage.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the Trial Court erred in finding that Al Ellis is not entitled to liability coverage under the Homeowner's Insurance Policy issued to him by Safeco Insurance Company of America for the Judgment entered against him as a result of the death of Brian Michael Kees.

"A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So. 2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993). An appellate court is charged with examining the entire record. In so doing, that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower court's finding of fact, must be accepted. If there is substantial evidence to support the findings made by the trier of fact, those findings must be affirmed on review. *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So.2d 705, 707-08 (1983). Finally, the Supreme Court has long held that uncontradicted testimony which was not impeached must be accepted as true. *See James v. Mabus*, 574 So. 2d 596 (Miss. 1990).

On January 6, 2009, Safeco moved for summary judgment. The trial court denied the motion, finding the existence of genuine issues of material fact to be determined by the trier-of-fact. Sitting as such, the trial court was asked to determine (1) whether Ellis intentionally shot Brian; (2) whether Brian's death was a foreseeable consequence of Ellis's act; and, (3) whether Ellis's act of shooting was illegal. All of the evidence necessary, and ascertainable, for such determinations mandates judgment for Lambert.

Nonetheless, the trial court's December 30, 2010, Final Judgment erroneously concluded that (1) Ellis's actions were illegal, and therefore excluded under the policy language; (2) because Ellis intended the act of shooting his gun, his actions were not an accident, and thus did not constitute an "occurrence" as required under the policy language; and (3) because Ellis intended to discharge his firearm at or towards the Kees's vehicle, his actions were intentional and coverage is barred by the Intentional Act Exclusion in the Safeco policy (R.E. at 10-12).

The trial court's final judgment cited *Allstate Insurance Company vs. Moulton*, 464 So. 2d 507 (Miss. 1985), *U. S. Fidelity & Guarn. Co. vs. Omnibank*, 812 So. 2d 196 (Miss. 2002), and *Rogers vs. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 938 So. 2d 871 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), all of which are distinguishable from the case at bar.³

Additionally, in the lower court, Safeco relied on *Berry vs. McLemore*, 795 F.2d 452 (5th Cir. 1986), and *ACS Construction Company vs. CGU*, 332 F.3d 885 (5th Cir. 2003), however, both of these cases are also distinguishable, and offer Safeco no support.

Berry is a pre-Allard, non-binding federal case, and it is distinguishable. The officer, against whom the judgment was obtained, had struck the plaintiff in the face at least twice and had shot the plaintiff in the stomach, the arm and in the back. It was clear to the Court that the officer/defendant intended not only his actions but also the consequences of his actions. The Berry Court placed great weight on the fact that the complaint alleged intentional torts and only mentioned negligence once. Only negligence is pled in the case sub judice and Ellis has already been adjudicated negligent in the criminal case.

ACS is a federal case where a contractor hired a subcontractor whose work was faulty, resulting in damages. The federal court found the subcontractor's actions intentional, and thus the policy exclusion applied, because he had purposefully installed the faulty materials. The federal court went on to assert in dicta that, in OmniBank, the Mississippi Supreme Court had resolved the "so-called tension between Allard and Moulton and reaffirmed its holding in Moulton." However, were the federal court correct, Allard would no longer be good law, a course which our Supreme Court declined to follow in OmniBank, and in the case at bar when it denied Safeco's petition for interlocutory appeal.

Moulton was decided prior to Allard, and is thus affected by the Supreme Court's holding there. Further, Moulton was a malicious prosecution case, an intentional tort. No intentional torts were pled in Lambert's complaint and none are alleged. Ellis pleaded guilty (and his guilty plea was accepted) to manslaughter by culpable negligence, thus further distinguishing it from Moulton.

OmniBank is a factually dissimilar case involving the Court's interpretation of a commercial insurance policy. The OmniBank Court also upheld Allard, saying that the Allard facts created a jury question as to whether the victim was intentionally harmed.

Rogers was handed down by the Court of Appeals, which like the federal courts in Berry and ACS, supra, is bound to follow the Supreme Court's precedent in Allard. Moreover, Rogers offers Safeco no support in that it turned on the fact that the complaint sought damages for financial loss and damage to reputation whereas the policy only provided coverage for bodily injury and property damage.

Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company, et al. vs. George D. Allard, et al., 611 So.2d 966 (Miss. 1992), is the controlling case. None of the cases relied on by the trial court and/or Safeco overrule Allard, and the Omnibank case specifically affirmed it. Moreover, the Mississippi Supreme Court denied Safeco's requests in its petition for interlocutory appeal and its motion for rehearing that the rule in Allard be overruled. Therefore, Allard remains controlling precedent, it is directly on point, and, when the evidence before the trial court is viewed as a whole, it mandates judgment for Lambert.

Allard is from Madison County, the same Circuit Court District as the case sub judice.

Attempting to fire a shotgun into the ground at his angry brother-in-law's feet, Allard missed and hit the man in the foot. *Id.* at 968. Farm Bureau contended the shooting was an intentional act not covered by Allard's homeowner's insurance policies. The Mississippi Supreme Court disagreed, holding that "an act is intentional if the actor desires to cause the consequences of his act, or believes that the consequences are substantially certain to result from it." *Id.* The Supreme Court found a jury question as to whether Allard intended to shoot his brother-in-law, or intended to shoot the ground in front of him. Since the jury had found the firing of the gun intentional, but had also found that Allard had not intended the resulting consequences (shooting his brother-in-law) the Court affirmed the verdict and the insurance company's obligation to pay.

Ellis provided uncontradicted, sworn testimony that he accidentally shot Brian. In State of Mississippi vs. Al Ellis, Cause Number 17,192, in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Circuit Court Judge William E. Chapman, III, accepted Ellis's account of the shooting and, in accordance therewith, adjudicated him to be guilty of manslaughter by culpable negligence. During sentencing, Judge Chapman said, inter alia, the following: "And my belief, as I said, that this was an act of negligence, not criminal intent." (R.E. at 327.)

Among other things, Ellis testified during sentencing that:

"When I said guilty, I wanted this to be over with. But I didn't intend to do anything to the boy or the father, but I wanted justice, whatever, it's in God's hands" (R.E. at 304); "... honestly, I never even dreamed that anybody was even scratched in that car." (R.E. 315-16).

During his deposition, Ellis testified as follows:

- Q. Did you intend for any of the bullets that you fired to hit Brian Michael Kees?
- A. No.
- Q. Okay. At the time you fired those bullets, what was your intention?
- A. Disabling the vehicle.
- Q. And why did you want to disable the vehicle?
- A. So I could retrieve my money and call the police and get my money.
- Q. Now, at the time you fired those shots did you believe that you had the right to stop that vehicle?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And did you believe that the driver of that vehicle had committed a crime?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now, did you know that Brian Kees was in the car?
- A. No.
- Q. You hadn't seen him come from behind that house or anywhere and get in that car?
- A. No.
- Q. Were the windows tinted on that car?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Could you see inside the car at all?
- A. No.
- Q. Now, did you see Michael Kees get in the car?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did he tell you that Brian was in the car?
- A. No.
- Q. Now, is that the same thing, that scenario, that you told the Court at your sentencing hearing?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now, you had purchased a policy of insurance, homeowner's insurance; is that right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And isn't it true that you had also assigned that to the - any proceeds of that to the estate - to the wrongful death beneficiaries?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now, did you believe when you purchased that insurance and on the day that this happened that it provided coverage for instances like this?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And would you term this as an accident?

- A. Yes.
- Q. This what happened, was it an accident?
- A. In my own judgment, yes.
- Q. Now, you weren't convicted of murdering anybody, were you?
- A. No.
- Q. You were convicted of manslaughter by culpable negligence?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you pled guilty to that crime?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Was it your understanding that that crime was punishment for accidents, reckless accidents?
- A. Yes
- Q. And is that what you believe occurred that day?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you intended to shoot the gun but you didn't intend for the gun to for the bullets to hit Brian Kees?
- A. No.
- Q. And you didn't intend for them to hit anybody?
- A. No. According to the ballistics, the bullet came in an upward direction, which was a ricochet.
- Q. But your intent was not for the bullet to ricochet up and hit anybody in the car or to directly hit anybody in the car?
- A. No.
- Q. When you found out later at the hospital that Brian had been hit by a bullet -- is that right? It was at the hospital where you learned that?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you learn at that time that he had passed away?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now, was that the expect result - the result that you expected when you fired that gun?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you foresee that was going to occur?
- A. No.

(R.E. at 390-93.)

This sworn testimony by Ellis was the only evidence before the trial court on the critical issue of whether Ellis intended to shoot Brian. The Supreme Court has long held that uncontradicted testimony which is not impeached must be accepted as true. See James v.

Mabus, 574 So. 2d 596 (Miss. 1990) (holding that inherently probable, reasonable, credible, and trustworthy testimony uncontradicted by evidence must be accepted as true). Ellis's testimony is uncontradicted, was accepted by Judge Chapman, and can lead to no other conclusion than that Ellis accidentally shot Brian.

During his sentencing hearing, Ellis testified, *inter alia*, that: "I didn't see [Brian] (R.E. at 313); "I didn't see anybody in the car, period, your Honor (*Id.* at 314); and "I never even dreamed that anybody was even scratched in that car." (*Id.* at 315.) Further, Judge Chapman concluded "... it seems to me that Mr. Ellis saw Michael get into the driver's seat and did not see Bryan in the passenger seat because of the tinted windows." (*Id.*)

As in *Allard*, Ellis intended to fire the gun, but did not intend to shoot anyone. He did not even know that Brian was in the car. His intent was simply to disable the car and retrieve his money. Accordingly, Brian's injuries and resulting death could not have been reasonably foreseeable to Ellis, and, in fact, Ellis has testified under oath that he did not foresee any injury to Brian. Certainly, it is not reasonable that Ellis would - or could - foresee an injury to Brian, who he did not even know was in the car at the time he fired the gun.

In *Allard*, the plaintiff knew with certainty that his brother-in-law was present, yet because he did not foresee the bullet hitting him, the exclusion did not apply. Here, the uncontradicted evidence is that Ellis did not know Brian was in the car, that he did not intend to harm Brian or anyone else, and that Brian's injuries were not foreseeable to Ellis. Accordingly, as in *Allard*, the exclusion cannot apply, and Ellis's policy provides coverage.

The trial court also erroneously found Ellis's act of shooting a firearm at or towards

the vehicle in which Brian was traveling a crime and an illegal act, subject to the illegal acts exclusion in the Safeco policy.

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