IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RITA KEES LAMBERT, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND HEIRS-AT-LAW OF THE DECEDENT, BRIAN MICHAEL KEES

APPELLANTS

VS.

Cause No. 2011-CA-00166

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA AND AL ELLIS

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI BRIEF OF SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, APPELLEE ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

W. Wright Hill, Jr., MSB # Jan F. Gadow, MSB PAGE, KRUGER & HOLLAND, P.A. 10 Canebrake Blvd., Suite 200 P.O. Box 1163 Jackson, MS 39215-1163 (601) 420.0333 (601) 420.0033 – facsimile

COUNSEL FOR SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, APPELLEE

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Lambert and Safeco agree on all relevant and material facts, which leaves only a question of law, to wit: whether the clear language of Al Ellis' homeowner's insurance policy provides liability coverage to Ellis for the personal injury and wrongful death damages Lambert suffered as a result of Ellis' intentional shooting, which resulted in Brian Kees' death. Pursuant to at least three unambiguous provisions of the Safeco policy, there is no coverage available for these damages. First, Ellis' act is illegal, therefore damages arising from this act are not covered under the policy. Next, the damages were "expected and intended" by Ellis, are the foreseeable result of Ellis' intentional act, and therefor, are excluded from coverage. Finally, Ellis' intentional act of shooting does not constitute an "occurrence" that would trigger coverage under the Safeco policy. Any *one* of these three provisions, standing alone, is sufficient to prevent coverage for damages caused by Ellis' shooting. The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Safeco and, respectfully, this Court must affirm.

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SAFECO'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE SUBJECT POLICY OF HOMEOWNER'S INSURANCE PROVIDES NO COVERAGE TO AL ELLIS FOR THE DAMAGES RESULTING FROM HIS INTENTIONAL SHOOTING.

This Court reviews a circuit court's grant of summary judgment *de novo.***Kimbrough v. Keenum, 2011 WL 1467623, at *2 (¶ 9) (Miss.App. Apr. 19, 2011) (citations therein omitted); **Hynes v. Ambling Management, 66 So.3d 712, 714 (¶ 5) (Miss.App. 2011) (citation therein omitted). If the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, reveals no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment in his favor, summary judgment is appropriate.

**Kimbrough, 2011 WL 1467623, at *2 (¶ 9). The evidence considered includes all pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions, as well as any affidavits. **Hynes*, 66 So.3d at 714 (¶ 5).

The non-movant may not rest on the pleadings, but must set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Kimbrough*, 2011 WL 1467623, at *2 (¶ 9). The non-movant's rebuttal must be supported by significant, probative evidence on each element of his claim, which requires more than a "mere scintilla of colorable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Hynes*, 66 So.3d at 715 (¶ 10) (quoting *Lott v. Purvis*, 2 So.3d 789, 792 (¶ 11) (Miss. App. 2009)); *Kendrick v. Quin*, 49 So.3d 645, 648 (¶ 7) (Miss. App. 2010) (citation therein omitted). Bare assertions are insufficient to avoid summary judgment. *Hynes*, 66 So.3d at 715 (¶ 10) (citations therein omitted). If the non-movant fails to sufficiently establish any essential element of his claim, summary judgment is

mandated. *Patterson v. Tibbs*, 60 So.3d 742, 753 (¶ 41) (Miss. 2011) (citing *Buckel v. Chaney*, 47 So.3d 148, 153 (Miss. 2010)); *Albert v. Scott's Truck Plaza*, 978 So.2d 1264, 1266 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2008) (citations therein omitted).

Interpretation of insurance policy language is a question of law, which is also reviewed *de novo*. *Deaton v. Mississippi Farm Bureau*, 994 So.2d 164, 167 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2008) (citations therein omitted); *Progressive Gulf Ins. Co. v. We Care Day Care*, 953 So.2d 250, 253 (¶ 11) (Miss. App. 2006) (citation therein omitted). Notwithstanding clear limiting language, an insurer cannot limit recovery for benefits for which an insured has paid a premium. *Progressive Gulf*, 953 So.2d at 254 (¶ 12) (citation therein omitted). Limiting policy language is strictly construed and "must be written in clear and unmistakable language." *Progressive Gulf*, 953 So.2d at 254 (¶ 12) (quoting *Miss. Farm Bureau v. Jones*, 754 So.2d 1203, 1204 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2000)). "But, when stated without uncertainty or ambiguity, exclusionary language is binding upon the insured." *Progressive Gulf*, 953 So.2d at 254 (¶ 12) (citing *Lewis v. Allstate*, 730 So.2d 65, 70 (¶ 25) (Miss. 1998)).

1. The damages claimed by Lambert arose out of an illegal act committed by Ellis.

Presuming without conceding that Brian Kees' death resulted from an "accident" or "occurrence", thereby entitling Ellis to liability coverage under the subject Safeco policy, the "illegal acts" exclusion in the policy negates such coverage. This exclusion states:

- II. Coverage E Personal Liability does not apply to:
- a. Liability:

³ Which presumption will be addressed and laid to rest subsequently herein.

(4.) arising out of any illegal act committed by or at the direction of any **insured**.

(C.P. 134)

Ellis' discharge of his firearm within the city limits on the occasion complained of in Lambert's complaint, without more, was illegal pursuant to Code of Ordinances of Pearl, Mississippi, Ch. 16, Art. 1, Sec. 16-3. Further, and more importantly, given Brian Kees' resulting death, Ellis was criminally charged with murder and eventually pled guilty to and was convicted of manslaughter by culpable negligence. (C.P. 178, 235, 270, 274-75, 353) In light of his voluntary plea and conviction of the crime of manslaughter, there can be no doubt or dispute that Ellis committed an illegal act. Lambert urges that the trial court erred by considering Ellis' manslaughter conviction as proof that he committed an illegal act. Yet even in his deposition, which was taken after Ellis had entered his guilty plea, he confirmed that he understood he had pled guilty to an illegal and unlawful act and that he did intend to fire his gun at the Kees' vehicle when he knew there was at least one person in the vehicle⁴. (C.P. 300-01)

According to Lambert, the Safeco policy excludes coverage for illegal acts, not convictions of illegal acts; also according to Lambert, illegal acts require criminal intent. The policy provision specifically states that there is no coverage for "[I]iability arising out of any illegal act committed by or at the direction of any insured." (emphasis added) (C.P. 134) Safeco agrees that no conviction is necessary to trigger this exclusion; just

⁴ Lambert represents in her brief that the testimony is uncontradicted that Ellis did not know anyone was in the Kees vehicle when he shot at it. However, Ellis' deposition testimony is clear and to the point: "Q: And at that time [when you intentionally fired the gun at the Kees vehicle]

an illegal act. Ellis' guilty plea and conviction are not necessary to trigger this exclusion; instead, his guilty plea and conviction are evidence that conclusively establish the fact that Ellis committed an illegal act, thereby preventing Safeco from having to prove that Ellis committed an illegal act. Although the manslaughter statute under which Ellis pled guilty, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-47⁵, may apply when the *killing* is not willful, willful *acts* can cause a negligent, unintentional killing sufficient to support a conviction under this statute. *Capitol City Ins. Co. v. Hurst,* 632 F.3d 898, 904 (5th Cir. 2011). So regardless of whether Ellis intended to *kill*, his intentional act of *shooting* into the Kees vehicle, which resulted in Brian Kees' death, is nonetheless illegal. This act is illegal and sufficient to trigger the "illegal acts" exclusion from coverage regardless of whether there is also a criminal conviction; but Ellis did in fact plead guilty and was convicted of a crime. So by virtue of Ellis' guilty plea and conviction, the existence of an illegal act is affirmatively established, as a matter of law.

Lambert also argues that the illegal act exclusion only applies to intentional crimes/acts, not negligent crimes such as manslaughter by culpable negligence, to which Ellis pled guilty. However, the Safeco policy does not specify that coverage is excluded only if damages result from an *intentional* illegal act. Courts in numerous jurisdictions have interpreted similar illegal act provisions. Importantly, these courts have held that in such exclusionary clauses, the phrase "criminal acts" or "illegal acts" does not distinguish between intentional and unintentional crimes, but rather excludes both from coverage. *See, e.g, Allstate Ins. Co. v. Peasley*, 932 P.2d 1244, (Wash. 1997).

you knew that there was at least one, if not two, occupants of the Kees vehicle? A: Yes." (C.P. 301)

In *Peasley*, the claimant, Parker, was a guest in the home of Allstate's insured, Peasley. While Parker was at Peasley's home, Peasley shot Parker in the stomach and he sustained serious, but nonfatal injuries. Both Peasley and Parker maintained that the shooting was accidental. Peasley bargained with the prosecutor and pleaded guilty to second degree reckless endangerment in exchange for the prosecutor's recommendation of a suspended sentence. *Id.* at 1246. At the time of the shooting, Peasley had a homeowner's insurance policy with Allstate.

Allstate brought an action against Peasley and Parker, seeking a declaration that the policy's criminal acts provision excluded coverage for Parker's injuries because they were the result of Peasley's criminal acts. Peasley argued that the criminal acts exclusion was ambiguous and only applied to *intentional* crimes. The *Peasley* court specifically held that the exclusion encompassed *any* crime, including the crime of reckless endangerment, despite the fact that such a crime is "unintentional." *Id.* at 1249-50.

The *Peasley* court further interpreted the Allstate Policy's provision excluding "intentional" acts as separate from the exclusion of "criminal" acts. The court stated that the "intentional acts" exclusion encompasses *all* intentional acts, whether criminal or not. If the "criminal acts" exclusion were restricted to only *intentional* criminal acts, the "criminal acts" exclusion would be meaningless and superfluous since other language would already encompass all intentional acts. *Id.* at 1249. The same can be said of the Safeco policy. *See also Alfa Ins. Corp. v. Walden,* 117 F.3d 1416 (5th Cir. 1997), 1997 WL 335825, at *3 (unpublished) (if criminal acts exclusion applies only to *intentional*

⁵ (C.P. 344)

criminal acts, intentional acts exclusion in same policy would be meaningless repetition)(citations therein omitted). Likewise, the Safeco Policy illegal acts exclusion excludes coverage for illegal conduct regardless of whether the crime is intentional or unintentional. It follows that Ellis' illegal act bars coverage.

The **Peasley** court cited to various cases from other jurisdictions around the country which have interpreted the exclusion in the same way. See, e.g., Alistate Ins. Co. v. Brown, 16 F.3d 222 (7th Cir. 1994) (criminal acts exclusion clause encompasses criminal recklessness); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Burrough, 914 F.Supp. 308, 312 (W.D.Ark. 1996) (criminal acts exclusion "includes all criminal acts, no matter what the mental state required for their commission"); Hooper v. Alistate Ins. Co., 571 So. 2d 1001, 1003 (Ala. 1990); Alistate Ins. Co. v. Schmitt, 570 A.2d 488 (N.J. 1990) ("words 'criminal act' are not modified by any descriptive culpability requirement"); Steinke v. Allstate Ins. Co., 621 N.E.2d 1275, 1279 (Ohio App. 3d Dist. 1993) (disorderly conduct, a crime with recklessness as an element, triggers the exclusionary clause); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Sowers, 776 P.2d 1322, 1323 (Or.App. 1989) (insured's resisting arrest fit the criminal acts exclusion despite insured's lack of intent to injure officer). Furthermore, as a matter of Mississippi public policy, people and businesses cannot purchase insurance coverage for illegal actions. Farmland Mut. Ins. Co. v. Scruggs. 886 So.2d 714, 720 (¶ 24) (Miss. 2004); Delta Pride Catfish, Inc. v. Home Ins. Co., 697 So.2d 400, 405 (Miss.1997). "[W]e do not allow corporations or persons to insure themselves against acts prohibited by law." Delta Pride, 697 So.2d at 405 (quoting Graham Resources, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co., 625 So.2d 716, 721 (La.Ct.App.1st Cir. 1993)).

The United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi made an *Erie* guess in the case of *Alistate Insurance Co. v. Blackmon*, 918 F.Supp. 168 (S.D.Miss. 1995), regarding whether a "criminal acts" exclusion similar to the one at issue in the case at bar should be applied according to its plain and unambiguous terms. The court answered in the affirmative. *Id.* at 173. Where the decedent's death was caused by a bullet fired from a gun held by the insured, the resulting damages were not covered under the subject homeowner's policy because the insured had committed a crime. Specifically, the insured pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter. *Id.* at 169.

There is no question of fact: Ellis pled guilty to committing manslaughter, a serious *illegal* act which resulted in the damages complained of in Lambert's complaint. Pursuant to the plain language of the illegal acts exclusion at issue and in accord with the logical interpretation of the "illegal acts" exclusion by jurisdictions all over the country, this exclusion negates coverage and any duty to defend and provide indemnity under the subject Safeco policy language, *regardless* of Ellis' intent.

Lambert's argument that Ellis was merely trying to make a citizen's arrest is a valiant attempt to put a noble spin on Ellis' actions. While a citizen's arrest may be a lawful act, during his sentencing hearing Ellis stated that he shot at the Kees vehicle because he wanted to stop the car and get his money back; he wanted justice. (C.P. 314, 326) Moreover, Ellis' guilty plea to manslaughter by culpable negligence establishes that Ellis was acting "without authority of law", which puts to rest any claim that he was making a valid and legal citizen's arrest. (C.P. 275) (emphasis added) Lambert also asserts that if Ellis had successfully disabled the car without harming anyone, he would have accomplished a lawful citizen's arrest. That may be. But if Ellis

had successfully disabled the car without harming anyone, he would not have been charged with murder, would not have pled guilty to and been convicted of culpable negligence manslaughter, and Safeco would be required to prove the existence of a criminal act.

Instead, Ellis relieved Safeco of this burden when he admitted, in his plea hearing, that he killed Brian Kees by "knowingly, willfully, through culpable negligence through his acts . . . shooting into a moving automobile . . . without authority of law." (C.P. 275) Ellis voluntarily admitted to the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, that he committed an illegal act and he was ultimately sentenced to twenty years in prison for that illegal act. (C.P. 353-54) Lambert cannot now seriously suggest that the crime of manslaughter, which Ellis admitted he committed, is not an illegal act. The act of shooting a gun into a moving vehicle with knowledge there is at least one person within the vehicle, and which results in the death of a person within the vehicle is, without question, a serious illegal act pursuant to Mississippi law and pursuant to the terms of the Safeco policy. There is no fact question for a jury to determine. Pursuant to the plain language of the "illegal acts" exclusion, there is no coverage under the Safeco policy for the death of Brian Kees, which resulted from Ellis' illegal act.

2. The damages claimed by Lambert were expected or intended by Ellis or were the foreseeable result of an act he intended.

Again presuming without conceding that Brian Kees' death resulted from an "accident" or "occurrence", the Safeco policy includes an intentional act exclusion which negates or voids any coverage to which Ellis would otherwise be entitled. This exclusion reads:

LIABILITY LOSSES WE DO NOT COVER

- 1. Coverage E Personal Liability and Coverage F Medical Payments to Others do not apply to bodily injury or property damage:
 - a. which is expected or intended by any insured or which is the foreseeable result of an act or omission intended by any insured.

(C.P. 132)

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